
 
CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting – Agenda 
 

February 6, 2023 at 6:00 PM | Pooler City Hall | 100 US Hwy 80 SW, Pooler, GA 31322 

1 of 2 

 
    
I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM 
    
II. CALL TO ORDER 
    
III. INVOCATION 
    
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
    
V. ANNOUNCEMENTS 
    
VI. CONSENT AGENDA 
  A. City Council Meeting Minutes of January 17, 2023 
  B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of January 17, 2023 
  C. Special Event Permit Application for the Greater Pooler Area 

Chamber of Commerce on March 17, 2023 (requesting fee waiver) 
  D. Special Event Permit for Kandie Spence / Georgia Skin and Cancer 

Clinic on April 15, 2023 
  E. Special Event Permit Application for Pooler Juneteenth Celebration 

Run Committee, Inc. on June 10, 2023 (requesting fee waiver) 
  F. Special Event Permit Application for Pooler Juneteenth Celebration 

Committee, Inc. on June 17, 2023 (requesting fee waiver) 
    
VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS 
  A. Proclamation for the 101st Birthday of Catherine Boxxe DeWitt 
  B. Resolution R2023-02.A - Amendment to the 2023 Schedule of Fees 
    
VIII. OLD BUSINESS 
  A. Site Plan for My Place Hotel at 14 Mill Creek Circle 
  B. Site Plan for Nine Squares (1541 Pooler Parkway) 
    
IX. NEW BUSINESS 
  A. Conditional Use Request for Industrial & Equipment Sales at 55 

Coleman Boulevard (Public Hearing, Action) 



 

2 of 2 

  B. Zoning Map Amendment for 2.55 Acres at Old Central Road from R1-
A to I-1 (Public Hearing, Action) 

  C. Building Height Variance for Towne Place Suites on Half Moon Way 
(Public Hearing, Action) 

  D. Site Plan for Outparcel 2, Tanger Outlets 
  E. Site Plan for Towne Place Pooler Hotel on Half Moon Way 
  F. Acceptance of Performance Bond and Final Plat for Harmony 

Townhomes 
  G. Sale of 2015 Ford 550 Crime Scene/Command Truck to Jones County 
    
X. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
    
XI. ADJOURNMENT 
 



 
CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting – Minutes 
 

January 17, 2023 at 6:00 PM | Pooler City Hall | 100 US Hwy 80 SW, Pooler, GA 31322 

1 of 9 

 
    
I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM  
  Present: Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Tom Hutcherson, Mayor Pro Tem 
Shannon Black, Councilmember 
Aaron Higgins, Councilmember 
Stevie Wall, Councilmember 
Karen Williams, Councilmember  
Robert Byrd, City Manager   
Craig Call, City Attorney    
Chris Lightle, Finance Officer   
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council    

    
Absent: John Wilcher, Councilmember  

Steve Scheer, City Attorney   
    
II. CALL TO ORDER  
  Mayor Rebecca Benton called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
    
III. INVOCATION  
  Pastor Matthew Gunn of Hosanna Church gave the invocation. 
    
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
  Pastor Matthew Gunn of Hosanna Church led the pledge. 
    
V. ANNOUNCEMENTS  
  There were no announcements. 
    
VI. CONSENT AGENDA  
  City Manager Robert Byrd presented the consent agenda for consideration. 
  A. City Council Meeting Minutes of December 19, 2022  
    

 

  B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of December 19, 2022  
    

 

  C. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Commodores Deaux, LLC 
at 100 Pine Barren Road, Suite 112  

    
 



 

2 of 9 

  D. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Traders Queen DBA 
Ichiban Steakhouse and Sushi Bar at 40 Traders Way  

    
 

  E. Temporary/Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application 
for Karen Taylor Brownlee on January 28, 2023  

    
 

  F. Temporary/Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application 
for Jacqueline Lambert on March 3-4, 2023  

    
 

  G. Department Reports  
    

 

  1. Public Works  
    

 

  2. Finance  
    

 

  3. Fire  
    

 

  4. Police  
    

 

  5. Recreation  
    

 

  6. Planning & Zoning  
     

Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the consent agenda. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS  
  

 

  A. Proclamation for Human Trafficking Prevention Month  
    Mayor Rebecca Benton welcomed Julie Wade, Executive Director of Tharros 

Place, and read aloud the Proclamation for Human Trafficking Prevention 
Month. 

  B. Resolution R2023-01.A - To Fix and Publish Municipal Election 
Qualifying Period and Fees  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve Resolution R2023-01.A - To 
Fix and Publish Municipal Election Qualifying Period and Fees. 
 



 

3 of 9 

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Black 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
VIII. OLD BUSINESS  
  

 

  A. Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C-P to C-2  
    City Manager Robert Byrd reported that the item had been withdrawn by the 

petitioner. No action was taken. 
    
IX. NEW BUSINESS  
  

 

  A. Amend Zoning Conditions for 12 Outparcels of the Clyde E. Daniels 
Tract (Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the amendment for consideration. 
Mayor Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without 
comment. City Planner Brian Crooks reported on the proposed amendment. 
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to amend the Zoning Conditions for 
12 Outparcels of the Clyde E. Daniels Tract. 
 
Motion to Amend; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  B. Conditional Use Request for an Assisted Living Facility in Clear Lake 
Reserve (Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the request for consideration. Scott 
Allison of Coleman Company was present on behalf of the petitioner to 
answer questions. Mayor Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public 
hearing without comment. Councilmember Aaron Higgins, upon review of 
the criteria, moved to approve the Conditional Use Request for an Assisted 
Living Facility in Clear Lake Reserve. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  C. Conditional Use Request for American Craftsman Renovations to 
Operate a Cabinet Manufacturing Business at 1018 West Highway 
80, Suite 300 (Public Hearing, Action)  



 

4 of 9 

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the request for consideration. Calvin 
Norris was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. Mayor 
Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without comment. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins, upon review of the criteria, moved to 
approve the Conditional Use Request for American Craftsman Renovations 
to Operate a Cabinet Manufacturing Business at 1018 West Highway 80, 
Suite 300. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  D. Amendment to the Wynn-Capallo PUD Master Plan and Development 
Standards (Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the amendment for consideration. 
Scott Allison of Coleman Company was present on behalf of the petitioner to 
answer questions. Mayor Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public 
hearing without comment. Councilmember Tom Hutcherson moved to 
approve the Amendment to the Wynn-Capallo PUD Master Plan and 
Development Standards. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (3-2) 
MOVER: Hutcherson 
SECONDER: Black 
AYES: Black, Hutcherson, Wall 
NAYS: Higgins, Williams 

  E. Site Plan for Nordic Drive Trailer Storage Yard  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Neil 

McKenzie was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Karen Williams, upon review of the criteria, moved to 
approve the Site Plan for Nordic Drive Trailer Storage Yard subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 
meeting 

2. Payment of $1,950.00 into the Tree Fund 
 

Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  F. Site Plan for 1707 Old Dean Forest Road  



 

5 of 9 

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Jessica 
Vick was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the Site Plan for 1707 Old 
Dean Forest Road. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  G. Site Plan for Harmony Subdivision Amenity Site  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Neil 

McKenzie was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Resident Lenny Cataneo expressed his concerns regarding the project. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the Site Plan for Harmony 
Subdivision Amenity Site subject to the following conditions: 

1. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 
meeting 

2. All previously approved timelines remain in place 
 

Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (4-1) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Wall, Williams 
NAYS: Hutcherson 

  H. Site Plan for My Place Hotel at 14 Mill Creek Circle  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Blake 

Heiman was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to postpone the Site Plan for My Place 
Hotel at 14 Mill Creek Circle until such time that the Chief of Police is able to 
research records related to other properties owned by the petitioner. 
 
Motion to Postpone; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:   

  I. Site Plan for Dave & Busters on Tanger Outlets Boulevard  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration.Travis 

Burke, Rob Peterson, and Connie Reynolds were present to answer 
questions. Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve the Site Plan 
for Dave & Busters on Tanger Outlets Boulevard. 
 



 

6 of 9 

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  J. Site Plan for Nine Squares (1541 Pooler Parkway)  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. 

Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to postpone the Site Plan for Nine 
Squares (1541 Pooler Parkway) until such time that the petitioner may be 
present. 
 
Motion to Postpone; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Wall 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  K. Site Plan for Walk-On's Restaurant and Vet Center on Half Moon Way  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Jay 

Maupin was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the Site Plan for Walk-On's 
Restaurant and Vet Center on Half Moon Way subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. A westbound right turn deceleration lane on Blue Moon Crossing being 
proposed under this project. 
 

2. A modification to the southbound approach at Half Moon Way and Blue 
Moon Crossing is being proposed under the Towne Place Pooler 
project. This modification includes a left turn lane and thru/right turn 
lane on the southbound approach to the intersection. 
 

3. The approval of the site plan shall be contingent upon the remaining 
traffic improvements, proposed under Towne Place Pooler, attaining 
site plan approval. The full extent of traffic improvements must be 
approved and a resubmittal of plans showing the complete scope of 
the traffic improvements must be provided, prior to a preconstruction 
meeting being scheduled. 
 

4. It shall be noted that a certificate of occupancy shall not be issued 
until the Water Distribution and the Sanitary Sewer System falling 
under the scope of Towne Place Pooler project have been permitted, 
constructed, and accepted by the City. 

 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 



 

7 of 9 

MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  L. Site Plan for Highway 80 Car Wash  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Jay 

Maupin was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve the Site Plan for Highway 
80 Car Wash subject to the following conditions: 

1. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 
meeting 

 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  M. Underground Facilities Locating and Marking Service Agreement 
with Benchmark Subsurface Utility Services  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the agreement for consideration. 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve the Underground Facilities 
Locating and Marking Service Agreement with Benchmark Subsurface Utility 
Services subject to City Attorney approval. 
 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  N. Contract for Municipal Court Solicitor with Ty Wilson  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the contract for consideration. 

Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve the Contract for Municipal 
Court Solicitor with Ty Wilson. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  O. Contract for Municipal Court Public Defender with Lauren Tignor  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the contract for consideration. 

Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve the Contract for Municipal 



 

8 of 9 

Court Public Defender with Lauren Tignor. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  P. 2023 Roadside Mowing and General Maintenance Contract  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the agreement for consideration. 

Councilmember Karen Williams moved to award the 2023 Roadside Mowing 
and General Maintenance Contract to McGraley Company in the amount of 
$1,091,534.91. 
 
Motion to Award; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Wall 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  Q. 2023 Contract with the City Attorney  
    Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to terminate the prior City Attorney 

contract and approve the new City Attorney contract with Scheer, 
Montgomery, & Call, P.C.  
 
Motion to Terminate and Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
X. EXECUTIVE SESSION  
  With no further public business to conduct, Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved 

to enter Executive Session. Council entered Executive Session at 7:39 p.m. 
 
Motion to Enter; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  
 
Mayor Rebecca C. Benton called the meeting back to order at 8:03 p.m. 
 
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to amend the agenda to add Item P. under 
New Business: 2023 Roadside Mowing and General Maintenance Agreement.   
 



 

9 of 9 

Motion to Amend; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Wall 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  
 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to amend the agenda to add Item. Q under 
New Business: 2023 Contract with the City Attorney. 
 
Motion to Amend; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
XI. ADJOURNMENT  
  Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to adjourn the meeting. 

 
Motion to Adjourn; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Wall 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:06 p.m. 
 
 
The foregoing minutes are true and correct and approved by me on this _____ 
day of ______________, 2023. 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council 

 

































From: Hadassa Villafana
To: Tom Hutcherson
Cc: Aaron Higgins; Kiley Fusco
Subject: Special Event Permit Update - City of Pooler
Date: Wednesday, February 1, 2023 12:10:47 PM
Attachments: image002.png

Good Morning Councilman Hutcherson:

I am happy to inform you that your special event permit application for the 2023 Pooler
Juneteenth Celebration (6/17/2023) is being recommended for approval by our Police and
Fire Departments. However, each department has stated the following stipulations:

Police: Security Plan is required.

Contact: Captain Craig Bogden

Phone: (912) 748-7333

Email: cbogden@pooler-ga.gov

 

Fire: Will require 2 off-duty personnel to provide coverage.

Contact: Deputy Chief Scott Cribbs

Phone: (912) 748-7012

Email: scribbs@pooler-ga.gov

 

Please make all arrangements accordingly. This will be added to the upcoming council

agenda for Monday, February 6th.  Please let me know if you have any questions.

Respectfully,
HADASSA VILLAFANA
OCCUPATIONAL TAX SPECIALIST

PURCHASING SUPERVISOR
 

100 US Highway 80 SW
Pooler, GA 31322
 

T: (912) 748-7261 EXT. 109 
hvillafana@pooler-ga.gov | pooler-ga.gov

 

mailto:HVillafana@pooler-ga.gov
mailto:hutchertb@yahoo.com
mailto:aaron@aaronhiggins.net
mailto:kfusco@pooler-ga.gov
mailto:cbogden@pooler-ga.gov
mailto:scribbs@pooler-ga.gov
mailto:hvillafana@pooler-ga.gov
http://www.pooler-ga.gov/



WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

NOW, THEREFORE,

longevity of life is a blessing both for an individual and for a community which 
benefits from the knowledge and experiences this individual brings to all; and the 
City of Pooler recognizes with respect and admiration the contribution of senior 
citizens to our community;

Catherine Boxxe DeWitt was born in Savannah on January 22, 1922 to Harry 
Joseph and Sarah Bertha Love Boxxe, one of eight children. Her family arrived in 
Pooler in 1929 when the population was approximately 900;

she married LeRoy Edward DeWitt, Sr. on May 4, 1942. They purchased a wood 
frame house on the corner of North Rogers and Rothwell Streets. There they had 
they had four children: Linda, JoAnn, Roy (Jr.) and David. In 1963, they built a 
new brick home on that property where she still resides today;

Catherine has lived through 17 presidents, several wars, and The Great 
Depression. She well remembers the Hindenburg crash and the bombing of Pearl 
Harbor. A strong, independent, and energentic individual, she has outlived six 
of her siblings, her dear husband of 60 years, and her eldest daughter. She has 
survived breast cancer and numerous bodily injuries. Her mind and memory 
remain impecable;
 
at age nine, Catherine accepted Jesus at Pooler First Baptist Church where she 
remains a member today, having served as a mentor for many over the years;

the City of Pooler is pleased to have one if its citizens achieve the incredible 
milestone of turning the wonderful age of 101 and wish Mrs. DeWitt continued 
health and happiness in the years to come; 

I, Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor of the City of Pooler, do hereby recognize and honor 
Catherine Boxxe DeWitt on her 101st birthday, and urge all residents, employees, 
and visitors of Pooler to join me in this tribute.

In witness thereof, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the City 
of Pooler, Georgia to be affixed this the 6th day of February 2023. 

PROCLAMATION

The 101st Birthday of Catherine Boxxe DeWitt

Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor

Kiley Fusco, Clerk of  Council

ATTEST:



         RESOLUTION R2023-02.A 

RESOLUTION  
TO ADOPT THE CITY OF POOLER 2023 SCHEDULE OF FEES 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Pooler provides a number of services on a regular basis within  
   the city; and 

WHEREAS,  each of these services cost the city to administer and carry out; and 

WHEREAS,  there is a desire to accurately and correctly reflect the costs of these 
   various services in schedules that reimburse the city for the time and  
   expenses incurred by performing these services; and 

WHEREAS,  the fees and fines for all departments are reviewed and adjusted periodically 
    as deemed appropriate and fiscally responsible; and 

WHEREAS,  the most recent review has determined that costs associated with providing 
services has increased to a degree that it is necessary to make adjustments 
in order to meet current needs and demands; and 

WHEREAS,  the amended Schedule of Fees is attached as Exhibit A; and 

NOW, 

THEREFORE,  be it resolved by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pooler that the 
amended Schedule of Fees as attached is hereby adopted. 

ADOPTED  by the City of Pooler, Georgia on this 
 
   _______ day of _____________________, ________. 
 

 

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

 

__________________________________ 
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, City Clerk 



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

32 LICENSES AND PERMITS

32.1000 BUSINESS LICENSES

32.1100 Alcoholic Beverage License Fees:
A1  Retail package: liquor, beer and wine 1,850.00          
A2  Retail package: beer and wine 800.00             
A3  Retail package: beer only 600.00             
B1  Consumption on‐permises: liquor, beer and wine 2,150.00          
B2  Consumption on‐permises: beer and wine 1,000.00          
B3  Consumption on‐permises: beer only 750.00             
C    Wholesale liquor 3,200.00          
D    Wholesale beer and wine 1,900.00          
E    Brewer, manufacturer of malt beverages, (does not include brewpubs or homebrewers) 1,075.00          
F1  Hotels 2,500.00          
F2  Special event venue 2,000.00          
G    Manufacturer of wine 2,250.00          
H    Distiller, manufacturer of distilled spirits 2,250.00          
I     Temporary/private event (not including home‐brew events), per day, max 2‐days 100.00             
J     Home‐brew special event permit, per day, max 2‐days and 6‐days per annum 100.00             
K    Complimentary beer and wine 250.00             
L     Consumption off‐premises (caterer): liquor, beer and wine 1,500.00          

32.1100 Alocholic Beverage Add‐on fees:
A    Brewpub operator permit, requires qualifying license (B1, B2, B3, or E) 850.00             
C1  Sunday sales (retail) permit, requires qualifying license (A1, A2, A3, C, D, E, F1, F2, G, or H) 750.00             
C2  Sunday sales (11:00 am) permit, requires qualifying license (B1, B2, B3, F1 or F2) 1,000.00          

32.1900 Alcohol Application Fees:
New application fee (license classes A1 ‐ H, and L) 290.00             
New application fee (license classes I, J,  and K) 20.00               
Application renewal fee 50.00               

32.1900 Investigative fee for alcoholic beverage licenses 20.00               

32.1900 Nonprorated, nonrefundable business license administration fee 25.00               

1 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

32.2000 NON‐BUSINESS LICENSES AND PERMITS

32.2210 Cell Tower Submittal Fee:
New structure (does not include cost for site plan or conditional use) 3,500.00          
Modification of existing cell tower 500.00             
Replacement or co‐location 500.00             

32.2210 Conditional Use Request (CUP):
Includes one (1) sign 350.00             
Amendment to conditions placed on CUP 350.00             

32.2210 Culvert permit 35.00               

32.2210 Land Disturbing Activity (LDA) permit 150.00             
Per acre 40.00               

32.2210 Map amendment for PUD Master Plan fees:
Change in development standards, density, etc 350.00             

32.2210 Map amendment petition:  Fees shall accompany application
Area less than or equaling 1 acre + $50 per lot 300.00              350.00             
Area greater than 1 acre + $50 per lot 600.00              600.00             

32.2210 Sign permit ‐ $25 per each $1,000 or fraction thereof by total valuation 50.00               
Sign permit ‐ special events 50.00               

32.2210 Subdivisions:
Minor subdivision:

Preliminary plan ‐ plus $20.00 per lot 350.00             
Final plat 350.00             

Major subdivision:
Sketch plan 350.00             
Preliminary plan ‐ plus $20.00 per lot 2,000.00           1,650.00          
Final plat w/maintenance bond review 600.00             
Final plat w/performance bond review 600.00             

Five‐acre tract subdivision:
Final plat 350.00             

2 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

Revisions to recorded plat fees:
Recombinations, combinations 350.00             

Resubmittal of pending subdivision plan for review (Major & Minor only)
≥ 20 outstanding comments 500.00              ‐                    
Between 19 and 11 outstanding comments 375.00              ‐                    
Between 10 and 4 outstanding comments 250.00              ‐                    
≤ 3 outstanding comments 125.00              ‐                    

32.2210 Variance request (includes one (1) sign) 350.00             

32.2210 Well permit:
Shallow wells (less than 75 feet) 35.00               
Deep wells (75 ft and over) 65.00               

32.2210 Zoning text amendment 350.00             

32.2900 Burn permit 50.00               

32.2900 Door‐to‐Door Solicitation; Base annual fee 200.00             
Per person/per day fee 50.00               

32.2900 Live Entertainment permit, per year 100.00             

32.2900 Special Event permit 300.00             

32.2900 Timber harvesting permit  50.00               

32.2900 Tire disposal fees:
Passenger cars/light weight truck tires (off rim) 3.00                  
Passenger cars/light weight truck tires (on rim) 5.00                  
Heavy weight truck tires (off rim) 15.00               
Heavy weight truck tires (on rim) 25.00               

3 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

32.3000 REGULATORY FEES

32.3100 Boring Fees:
0' to 20' 1,500.00          
20' to 50' 2,500.00          

32.3100 Building Permit Fees:
Single family residence ‐ 2500 sq ft or less 500.00             
Single family residence ‐ 2501 sq ft ‐ 5000 sq ft 600.00             
Single family residence ‐ 5001 sq. ft ‐ 7500 sq ft 700.00             
Single family residence ‐ 7501 sq ft ‐ 10,000 sq ft 800.00             
Single family residence ‐ 10,001 sq ft and over 900.00             
Multi‐family (per unit) 500.00             

Commercial projects (i.e.,  pools, buildings) ‐ by total valuation:
0 999 50.00               

1,000 to 50,000 First 1,000 50.00  (+ 10.00 for each add'l thousand or fraction thereof)
50,001 to 100,000 First 50,000 540.00  (+ 8.00 for each add'l thousand or fraction thereof)
100,001 to 500,000 First 100,000 940.00  (+ 6.00 for each add'l thousand or fraction thereof)
500,001 and over First 500,000 3,340.00  (+ 4.00 for each add'l thousand or fraction thereof)

32.3100 Demolition permit ‐ $10 per each $1,000 or fraction thereof by total valuation with minimum fee of $50 50.00               

32.3100 Fence permit ‐ $10 per each $1,000 or fraction thereof by total valuation with minimum fee of $50 35.00               

32.3100 Solar Panel: $10 per each $1,000 or fraction thereof by total valuation (includes cost of inspection) with minimum fee of $50

32.3100 Inspection fees:
Electrical (Commercial): (per inspection) 50.00               

Garages, storage building, residential additions (per inspection) 35.00               

Mechanical (Commercial): (per inspection) 50.00               

Plumbing (Comercial): (per inspection) 50.00               

Emergency Responder Communication Coverage (Commercial): (per inspection) 500.00              ‐                    

4 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

Reinspection fees:
1st building pemit reinspection 50.00               
2nd building permit reinspection 75.00               
Curb and gutter 50.00               
Meter 50.00               
Sidewalk 50.00               
Stabilization 50.00               
Tree 50.00               

32.3100 Mobile home or construction trailer permit 65.00               

32.3100 Moving permit (relocation of existing structure) 65.00                ‐                    

32.3100 Pool permits:
Above ground 50.00                35.00               
Private pool ‐ inground ‐ $10 per each $1,000 or fraction thereof by total valuation with minimum fee of $100 100.00             

34 CHARGES FOR SERVICES

34.1000 GENERAL GOVERNMENT

34.1300 Arborist (per acre) 150.00             

34.1300 Flood Maps:
Small 5.00                  
Large 10.00               

34.1300 Plan Review Fee:
Residential 50.00               
Commercial 300.00             
Commercial retrofitting space 150.00             
Commercial buildout 150.00             

5 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

34.1300 Site plan review submittal fees:
Site plan submittal fee 3,000.00           1,900.00          
Resubmittal of pending site plan for review
≥ 20 outstanding comments 500.00              ‐                    
Between 19 and 11 outstanding comments 375.00             
Between 10 and 4 outstanding comments 250.00             
≤ 3 outstanding comments 125.00             

Revisions to an approved site plan 1,500.00           600.00             
Site Addition 350.00              ‐                    

34.1300 Zoning fees:
Verification letter 50.00               

34.1300 Zoning maps:
Small 5.00                  
Large 10.00               

34.1400 Copy fee (per page) 0.10                  

34.1900 Notary fee (per page) 2.00                  

34.1900 Stop work order fee 500.00             

34.1900 Towing fees:
Services provided by head‐out wrecker service, not to exceed 85.00               
Vehicle storage (provided by head‐out wrecker service), per day 15.00               

6 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

34.4000 UTILITIES / ENTERPRISE

34.4100 Sanitation rates *
Sanitation‐only user deposit (renters) 75.00               
Wheeled trash carts ‐ non‐refundable deposit, per cart 75.00               
Residential trash service (includes one (1) recycling cart service), per month, one (1) trash cart 23.14                22.58               
Residential trash service ‐ additional trash cart, per month 10.97                10.71               
Commercial trash service (carts), per month 26.23                25.59               
Additional recycling cart ‐ residential/commercial (with trash cart service) carts, non‐refundable deposit, per cart 25.00               
Additional recycling service fee, per month/per cart 8.52                   8.31                  
Re‐delivery fee for repossessed carts 50.00               

34.4211 Water rates:*
Residential, single family dwelling units, condominiums, townhouses, apartments per unit, per month:

Base charge for first 2,000 gallons 10.62                10.36               
2,001 gallons to 8,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 2.79                   2.72                  
8,001 gallons to 14,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 4.42                   4.31                  
Over 14,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 8.38                   8.17                  

Commercial, per month:
Base charge for first 5,000 gallons 47.75                46.58               
5,001 gallons to 25,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 2.79                   2.72                  
25,001 gallons to 225,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 4.17                   4.07                  
Over 225,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 8.38                   8.17                  

Hotels, motels, hospitals, nursing homes, per month, per room:
Base charge for first 1,000 gallons 3.35                   3.27                  
1,001 gallons to 2,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 2.79                   2.72                  
2,001 gallons to 5,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 4.17                   4.07                  
Over 5,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 8.38                   8.17                  

Senior citizens, per month:
Base charge for first 2,000 gallons 7.57                   7.39                  
2,001 gallons to 8,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 2.06                   2.01                  
8,001 gallons to 14, 000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 3.06                   2.98                  
Over 14,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 6.15                   6.00                  

7 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

Multi‐family on master meter, per unit, per month:
Base charge for first 2,000 gallons 10.62                10.36               
2,001 gallons to 8,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 2.79                   2.72                  
8,001 gallons to 14,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 4.42                   4.31                  
Over 14,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 8.38                   8.17                  

Industrial:  Water rates same as commercial

Service call / disconnect / re‐connect fee, requested by customer 55.00               
Service call ‐ more than one (1) hour, per 1/4 hour 10.00               

Water:  Backflow preventer inspection fees (effective 08‐20‐12):
Up to 2", per device 75.00               
Up to 2", more than five (5) devices for same property, per device 50.00               
Over 2", per device 100.00             
Re‐test, if device fails and has to be repaired by certified plumber 25.00               

Utility service rates (effective 08‐21‐17):
Residential water service deposit (renters only) 150.00             
Commercial water service deposit (renters only)  300.00             
Water service fee ‐ courtesy, three (3) days maximum, non‐refundable 50.00               
Penalty for non‐payment for each meter scheduled for disconnection: 50.00               

Hydrant meters, monthly fee 47.75                46.58               
Per 1,000 gallons 3.02                   2.94                  
Charge for failure to bring meter in for reading 50.00               

Swimming pool ‐ fee for fire department to fill pools, plus charge for water used as stated above 25.00               
Deposit 993.00             
Permit fee 120.00             

8 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

34.4212 Water meters:
Three‐fourths inch 565.00             
One inch 820.00             
One and one half inch, plus flange kit 1,287.00          
Two inch, plus flange kit 1,465.00          
Three inch 1,715.00          
Four inch 2,875.00          
Six inch 5,055.00          
Eight inch 8,180.00          
Ten inch 10,525.00       

Water meters ‐ Fire line:
Four inch F2 compact 6,600.00          
Six inch F2 compact 8,800.00          
Eight inch F2 Fire Service 13,670.00       
Ten inch F2 Fire line 18,835.00       

MXU Radio Read Fee: per meter  145.00             

Replace damaged MXU 145.00             
(No charge for first device replacement)

34.4214 Water meter repair parts/repair fees:
Dual check for 3/4" meter 44.50               
Star 3/4" 31.50               
Iron lid for 3/4" box 30.00               
3/4" meter 130.00             
3/4" box (includes brass and recessed lids) 290.00             

Dual check for 1" meter 62.50               
Ball valve for 1" meter 77.50               
Star 1" 52.60               
Iron lid for 1" 50.00               
1" meter 185.00             
1" box (includes brass and recessed lids) 490.00             

9 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

34.4255 Sewer rates *
Residential, single family dwelling units, condominium, townhouses and apartments, per unit, per month:

Base charge 14.31                13.96               
Per 1,000 gallons 3.70                   3.61                  
Unmetered residences or residences on private waterwells, flat rate, per month 30.31                29.58               

Commercial, per month
Base charge 47.75                46.58               
0‐5,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 3.70                   3.61                  
Over 5,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 4.12                   4.02                  

Hotels, motels, hospitals, nursing homes, per month, per room
Base charge 6.36                   6.21                  
First 3,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 3.70                   3.61                  
Over 3,000 gallons, per 1,000 gallons 4.12                   4.02                  

Multi‐family on master meter
Base charge, per unit 14.31                13.96               
Per 1,000 gallons 3.70                   3.61                  

Senior Rate
Base charge 12.12                11.82               
Per 1,000 gallons 2.89                   2.82                  

Industrial
Domestic strength sewage ‐ rate same as commercial
Industrial strength sewage ‐ rates to be negotiated
Municipal ‐ rates to be negotiated

Septic tank companies ‐ dumping fee, per 1000 gallons ‐ effective 6‐1‐19 150.00             
Reuse water, per 1000 gallons 0.75                  

*2.5% increase effective every January 1st

34.6000 OTHER FEES

34.6410 Background Check Fees 30.00                ‐                    

10 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

34.7000 CULTURE AND RECREATION

34.7500 Recreation program fees:
Youth Sports:
Online Resident fee 40.00               
Walk‐in Resident fee 45.00               
Online Non‐Resident fee 85.00               
Walk‐in Non‐Resident fee 90.00               
Late registration fee 10.00               

Adult Sports:
Basketball ‐ Team Registration 400.00             

34.7500 Gymnastics and Tumbling:
Online fee 40.00               
Walk‐in fee 45.00               

34.7500 Dance:
10 years old and under 50.00               
10 years old or older 60.00               

34.7800 Leisure Services ‐ Senior Citizens:
Membership fee ‐ non Pooler/Bloomingdale residents ‐ quarterly fee 25.00               

34.9000 OTHER CHARGES FOR SERVICES NOT INCLUDED ABOVE

34.9000 Returned check charge 35.00               

34.9100 Cemetery Fees:
Burial, ashes ‐                     20.00               
Children ‐                     25.00               
All others ‐                     75.00               
Cost of lots (per space) ‐                     250.00             
Burial Administrative Fee 75.00                ‐                    

34.9900 Convenience Fee ‐ online utility payments 3.50%

11 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

37 CONTRIBUTIONS AND DONATIONS FROM PRIVATE SOURCES

37.1000 Tree Fund Contributions
Payment in lieu for tree replacement, removal of significant trees (per Sec. 42‐198) 2,000.00          
Payment in lieu for tree replacement, commercial and industrial hardship alternative (per Sec. 42‐199) 475.00             

37.1001 Tap‐in fees ‐ Water (does not include cost of meter):
Three‐fourths by five‐eighths inch meter (single family residential) 500.00             
One inch meter 500.00             
One and one‐half inch meter or two inch meter, plus $150 per unit 500.00             
Three inch meter, plus $150 per unit 1,250.00          
Four inch meter, plus $150 per unit 2,500.00          
Six inch meter, plus $150 per unit 4,700.00          
Eight inch meter, plus $150 per unit 5,800.00          
10‐inch meter, plus $10.00 per 1,000 gallons of anticipated water use over 8,000 gallons, per month 6,900.00          

Hotels, motels, inns, initial connection expansion, plus $150 per room 4,500.00          

Restaurants:
Freestanding, plus $140 per seat 2,500.00          
Buildout / Hotel restaurant, per seat 125.00             

Service Stations:
Service stations, no facilities 2,500.00          
With car washing facilities 4,500.00          
Car wash only 4,000.00          

Office, retail, shops, other commercial establishments:
Three‐fourths inch meter 500.00             
One inch meter 500.00             
One and one‐half inch meter or two inch meter, plus $150 per unit 500.00             
Two inch meter ‐ plus $10.00 per 1,000 gallons of anticipated water use over 8,000 gallons, per month 500.00             

12 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

Industrial:
Three‐fourths by five‐eighths inch meter 500.00             
One inch meter 500.00             
One and one‐half inch meter or two inch meter 500.00             
Three inch meter, plus $150 per unit 1,250.00          
Four inch meter 2,500.00          
Six inch meter 4,700.00          
Eight inch meter, plus $10.00 per 1,000 gallons of anticipated water use over 8,000 gallons, per month 5,800.00          

37.1002 Tap‐in fees ‐ Sewer:
Single family and multi‐family residential, per unit 500.00             
Commercial/industrial, plus $10.00 per 1,000 gallons of anticipated water use over 8,000 gallons per month 500.00             
Special commercial ‐ hotels, motels, hospitals, nursing homes, plus $75.00 per room 500.00             

Capital Cost Recovery Fees (per ERU):
37.1004 1998 GEFA Loan (Savannah Quarters) 1,666.00          
37.1005 2003 GEFA Loan (Morgan Tract, Morgan Pines, Oglethorpe Square) 3,400.00          
37.1006 2005 GEFA Loan (Hunt Club) 1,830.00          
37.1006 2005 GEFA Loan (Morgan Lakes) 1,780.00          

Capital Cost Recovery Fees (per ERU):
37.1007 City of Savannah 1,415.00          

Godley Station area north end Pooler Pkwy
JACP Properties
Capallo Family (Hunt Club)
Morgan Lakes
Savannah Quarters area south end of Pooler Pkwy

37.1008 Wastewater treatment plant capital cost recovery fee (per gallon) 13.58               

13 of 14



Printed: 1/24/2023

CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA
SCHEDULE OF FEES 2022 Fee

38 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

38.1000 RENTS AND ROYALITES

38.1000 Picnic shelter rental (in Sangrena Woods):
Deposit ‐ refundable once key is returned and no damage found 50.00               
Rental fee (per day ‐ Pooler Resident) 200.00             
Rental fee (per day ‐ Non  Resident) 300.00             

38.1000 Recreation park rental fees:
Complex @ 200 Preston Stokes Drive, per field, weekdays beginning 5:00 p.m. or later 75.00               
Complex @ 200 Preston Stokes Drive, per field, Saturday/Sunday/weekdays prior to 5:00 p.m. 150.00             
Complex @ 900 S. Rogers Street), per field, per day 100.00             
Pitching machines, per machine, per day 25.00               

38.1000 Standard Specifications CD 75.00               

38.9001 Excavation permit 35.00               

14 of 14


























































































































































	I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. CALL TO ORDER
	III. INVOCATION
	IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
	VI. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. City Council Meeting Minutes of January 17, 2023
	6A_City Council Meeting Minutes of January 17, 2023

	B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of January 
	6B_City Council Meeting_2023-01-17_Executive Session Affidavit_executed

	C. Special Event Permit Application for the Greater P
	6C_Special Event Permit Application for the Greater Pooler Area Chamber of Commerce on March 17, 

	D. Special Event Permit for Kandie Spence / Georgia S
	6D_Special Event Permit for Kandie Spence  Georgia Skin and Cancer Clinic on April 15, 2023

	E. Special Event Permit Application for Pooler Junete
	6E_Special Event Permit Application for Pooler Juneteenth Celebration Run Committee, Inc. on June

	F. Special Event Permit Application for Pooler Junete
	6F_Special Event Permit Application for Pooler Juneteenth Celebration Committee, Inc. on June 17,


	VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
	A. Proclamation for the 101st Birthday of Catherine B
	7A_Proclamation for the 101st Birthday of Catherine Boxxe DeWitt

	B. Resolution R2023-02.A - Amendment to the 2023 Sche
	7B_Resolution R2023-02.A_Amendment to the 2023 Schedule of Fees_draft1


	VIII. OLD BUSINESS
	A. Site Plan for My Place Hotel at 14 Mill Creek Circ
	8A_Site Plan for My Place Hotel at 14 Mill Creek Circle

	B. Site Plan for Nine Squares (1541 Pooler Parkway)
	8B_Site Plan for Nine Squares (1541 Pooler Parkway)


	IX. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Conditional Use Request for Industrial & Equipment
	9A_Conditional Use Request for Industrial & Equipment Sales at 55 Coleman Boulevard

	B. Zoning Map Amendment for 2.55 Acres at Old Central
	9B_Zoning Map Amendment for 2.55 Acres at Old Central Road from R1-A to I-1

	C. Building Height Variance for Towne Place Suites on
	9C_Building Height Variance for Towne Place Suites on Half Moon Way

	D. Site Plan for Outparcel 2, Tanger Outlets
	9D_Site Plan for Outparcel 2, Tanger Outlets

	E. Site Plan for Towne Place Pooler Hotel on Half Moo
	9E_Site Plan for Towne Place Pooler Hotel on Half Moon Way

	F. Acceptance of Performance Bond and Final Plat for 
	9F_Acceptance of Performance Bond and Final Plat for Harmony Townhomes

	G. Sale of 2015 Ford 550 Crime Scene/Command Truck to
	9G_Sale of 2015 Ford 550 Crime SceneCommand Truck to Jones County


	X. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	XI. ADJOURNMENT

